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St. Robert—A Vital and Active Faith Community

St. Robert Parish, located in the heart of Sacramento’s Hollywood Park 

neighborhood, is a vibrant and active faith community.  St. Robert is integral not 

only to the community itself, but also to the lives of its people who come together 

to worship and serve the Lord. Over the years, St. Robert has enriched the lives of 

literally thousands of parishioners and students.  It is a parish that continues to 

grow and change and thrive since it was created in 1955.  

The strength of St. Robert is its people—its diverse, friendly and caring parishioners 

of all ages and all walks of life. Together with the leadership of their Pastors, the 

people of the Parish have literally built this community from the ground up.  They 

support and maintain their church, their elementary school, their other Parish 

facilities, and their community through such organizations and activities as the 

Altar Society, the Knights of Columbus, the Legion of Mary, and Loaves and Fishes.  

With their commitment and involvement, and with the guidance of their Pastors, St. 

Robert School enjoys an excellent academic reputation, a strong athletics program, 

a top notch faculty, a top notch administration, and involved parents.  The people of 

St. Robert also support one another, offering prayer and a helping hand whenever 

the need arises. And so, as the Parish turns 50, as we celebrate our Jubilee, it is 

fitting that we look back at the history, the proud traditions and the people that 

have made St. Robert a very special faith community. 

Brian James is the principal of St. 
Robert School.  He was recently 

honored for 25 years of outstanding 
teaching and administrative 

leadership at St. Robert

Father Kieron McMahon
— Pastor since 1992 
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As we turn back the clock 50 years—to 1955—it was a very different time and place 

in America, in California, and in Sacramento.  It was the 1950’s, a time of great 

prosperity, population growth, and technological change.  In the post World War 

II environment, Americans were optimistic about the future.  Soldiers returned 

home, anxious to get on with their lives.  And the women who had waited for them 

were eager to get on with their lives as well.  One result was a rush to have babies, a 

phenomenon later to become known as the “Baby Boom.”  

With millions of new babies, there was a great need for housing.  Homes, however, 

were expensive, and were generally not affordable to the middle class. The 

solution was to build homes in mass production—in housing subdivisions—thereby 

substantially reducing costs.  With the American Dream of home ownership now 

affordable for the middle class, housing subdivisions popped up overnight and became 

a prominent part of the landscape of the 1950’s.

As Americans settled into their new homes, they enjoyed many new conveniences 

that made up the good life.  Refrigerators, air conditioners, washing machines, and 

telephones were all key components of the American Dream.  However, it was the 

television set that became must-have commodity, and this invention immediately 

transformed family entertainment. Television exploded on the scene in the 1950’s, as 

families everywhere gathered around to watch their favorite shows.

In practically every aspect of American life, the family was the center of focus.  For 

instance, Disneyland opened its doors in Anaheim, California, on July 17, 1955; and 

Disney movies such as, “The Lady and the Tramp” were great family entertainment.  

To meet the needs of families on the go, “fast food” became popular.  In 1955, 

McDonald’s and Kentucky Fried Chicken first began to franchise.

But the focus on families and the good life was not just related to materialism 
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and entertainment.  Indeed, after World War II, there was a strong resurgence 

in religion and churchgoing in the United States.  As new parents connected or 

reconnected to their religious faiths, they involved their children as well.  The 

popular saying of the time was, “Families that pray together stay together.”  All 

across the country, Americans were returning to church.  And, parents not only 

brought their children to church and Sunday school, but also enrolled them in 

religious schools.   

   

Just as the Baby Boom, families, housing subdivisions, television, family 

entertainment, and the resurgence of religion defined the landscape of America in 

the 1950’s, so too did these phenomena define the landscape of Sacramento during 

this period of time. Two million servicemen were released in California after World 

War II, and Sacramento was a popular destination.  Astoundingly, during the decade 

of the 1950’s, the population of greater Sacramento nearly doubled—from 250,000 to 

480,000.  Whole neighborhoods popped up overnight, as thousands of new homes were 

built, mostly in large subdivisions.  On its southern border, Sacramento expanded 

rapidly, especially south of Sutterville Road and west of Freeport Boulevard.  

However, there were also a few subdivisions of new homes popping up in an area east 

of Freeport—an area called, “Hollywood Park.”   Just six years later, this area was 

fully developed.  This development brought tens of thousands of new inhabitants to 

the Hollywood Park community, most of them families with young children.  And, 

like so many other families in America, they were looking for places to go to church 

and places to send their children to school. 
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October 27, 1955 —The Creation of St. Robert Parish
	
When it came to finding Catholic churches and schools, the residents of Hollywood 

Park had a two-pronged dilemma.  First, the new community had neither a Catholic 

school nor a Catholic church.  The closest Parish with a school was Holy Spirit, in 

the Land Park area, some four miles away.  There was also St. Rose Parish, with its 

St. Patrick School, on Franklin Boulevard, again over four miles away.  Since most 

families only had one car, and since most husbands worked, it was no easy task to get 

the children to school.  

While the long distance to Holy Spirit and St. Rose presented a challenge, the real 

dilemma was that these schools and their churches were running out of room for both 

students and worshippers.  There was simply no way these established parishes could 

handle the explosive population growth that was occurring not only in Hollywood 

Park, but also in the entire Sacramento region.  

Within the Sacramento Diocese, then Bishop Robert J. Armstrong was acutely aware 

of this dilemma, and he and his assistants were busy planning and establishing new 

parishes at a record pace.  Indeed, for 1955 alone, the Diocese’s plans called for three 

new parishes to be established in Sacramento:  St. Robert in Hollywood Park, St. 

Peters in south Sacramento, and St. Lawrence in North Highlands.  

Following through on these plans, Bishop Armstrong established the St. Robert 

Parish on October 27, 1955.  In the official records, the parish was named after St. 

Robert of Newminster, England, who lived during the first half of the 12th Century.  

Informally, however, there is some evidence that the Parish was also named after 

Bishop Robert Armstrong.  Regardless of this bit of intrigue, the documents from 

the archives at the Sacramento Diocese Pastoral Center simply state that Bishop 

Armstrong, with the consent of his council, created the St. Robert Parish, with 

boundaries to be determined later.  

On that same day—October 27th—Bishop Armstrong also named Father Hugh 

McTague as the founding Pastor of St. Robert.  For Father Mc Tague and the 

community of Hollywood Park, St. Robert was thus a parish without a church, a 

school, or any other building for that matter.  The sole asset was plot of vacant 

land—less than ten acres—fronting Irvin Way.  With this simple beginning, and 

with little additional assistance from the Diocese, the people of the Parish, under 

the leadership of their new Pastor, took it upon themselves to build their faith 

community from the ground up. 
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Father Hugh Mc Tague was appointed as the founding Pastor of St. Robert Parish on October 27, 1955.  Mc 
Tague was born and raised in Ireland, where he was ordained to the Priesthood in 1937.  He served the 

Sacramento Diocese for 18 years—in North Sacramento, Auburn, Angels Camp and Westwood—before 
coming to St. Robert.  Organized, on-task, resourceful, and patient, Mc Tague oversaw the development of a 
fully functioning parish.  Neither boastful nor brash, he was a quiet man who loved children.  He served the 

Parish for 25 years, until June 1, 1980, and passed away on November 27, 1982.



Bishop Armstrong’s decision to appoint Father Mc Tague as the founding Pastor of 

St. Robert was extreme good fortune for the new parish.  From the beginning it was 

clear that Mc Tague’s experience and temperament were well suited to building an 

entire faith community from scratch.  

Like most of the priests of the time, Father Mc Tague came from Ireland.  Born 

in Leitrim, Ireland in 1910, Mc Tague spent the first 27 years of his life in that 

country.  Upon completing his education at All Hallows College in Dublin, he was 

ordained to the Priesthood in 1937.  Immediately thereafter, he came to America, 

where he served the Sacramento Diocese for eighteen years in various outlying 

areas, including North Sacramento, Auburn, Angels Camp, and Westwood.  His 

experiences in these rugged and undeveloped areas enabled him to be resourceful and 

patient; and, he also learned to make do with what he had.    

In mid-September of 1955, Bishop Armstrong sent Father Mc Tague a letter, 

requesting him to accept an appointment as Pastor to one of three parishes that 

were being established in Sacramento.  The Bishop indicated he had not yet decided 

which parish it would be.  Father Mc Tague accepted, and humbly requested the 

Bishop to keep him in mind for the parish that was being established in Hollywood 

Park.  As we all know, Father Mc Tague got his wish; and on October 27, 1955, he was 

appointed as the founding Pastor of the new St. Robert Parish.  

The First Year—Father Mc Tague and the Parishioners
                                                 Set Priorities and Go to Work

Father Hugh Mc Tague,
Founding Pastor
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St. Robert held its first few Sunday 
masses in a cafeteria at the

Holy Spirit School, in Land Park
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Father Mc Tague would go on to serve St. Robert for twenty-five years. Organized, 

on task, resourceful and patient, he oversaw the development of a fully functioning 

Parish.  He not only presided over the  construction of all essential facilities—

including the school, the convent, the hall, and the rectory—but he also attracted 

hundreds of new parishioners.  Neither boastful nor brash, Mc Tague was a quiet 

person who loved children.  On May 12, 1977, he was elevated to the rank of Prelate 

of Honor, a rare recognition.   He served the Parish until June 1, 1980, and passed 

away two and a half years later, on November 27, 1982.  

Standing on the plot of vacant land in 1955, Father Mc Tague’s first priority, 

both from the Bishop and his parishioners, was to build an elementary school. The 

decision to build the school first, instead of the church, was a defining event in the 

history of the Parish, a decision that continues to shape its character and values.  

Proceeding first with the school said the priority was education, on providing a 

Catholic school experience for the children.  It also said that in order to meet 

this priority, the parishioners and Father Mc Tague were willing to tolerate the 

considerable inconvenience of not having a church.  They were willing to make do 

while the needs of the children were put first, because they believed having the 

school would be better for the future of their families and their faith community.  

And make do they did.  For the first few weeks after the creation of the Parish, 

Sunday Mass was said at the cafeteria at Holy Spirit School.  Masses during the week 

were said in St. Roses Church on Franklin Boulevard. The first Mass within the 

boundaries of St. Robert’s Parish was said on Thanksgiving Day, November 24, 1955, 

in the Ranch Shops—a vacant room in a strip mall on 4868 Freeport Boulevard—at 

what is now the current site of Raley’s Supermarket.  An oil stove in the middle of 

the room was the only source of heat; and, depending on proximity to this heater, 

one was either unbearably hot or unbearably cold.  Regardless of whether they 

worshipped in a cafeteria or a vacant store, and regardless of whether they sat on 

wooden benches with splinters or folding metal chairs that were hard and cold, the 

parishioners were proud of their new faith community and were looking forward to 

the future.  



Early on, Father Mc Tague had neither chalice nor vestments.  Parishioners stepped 

forward to remedy this situation:  Jennie Fries donated a chalice, and  Mary and 

Nick Domyancic donated two sets of vestments.  Other parishioners donated the 

other vestments, and the Heinrich’s donated a ciborium.  In acknowledging these 

contributions one Sunday, Father Mc Tague went on to say that many parishioners 

were asking him what they could donate.  He mentioned that he had just purchased 

200 chairs, and that anyone who wished could buy the chair he or she was sitting on 

for $5.00.  That Sunday forty chairs were purchased; and, within a few days, all 200 

were sold. 

Also true to the spirit of taking matters into their own hands, the parishioners 

taught catechism to the children in 1956.  With no school for the children of the 

Parish, and with no Sisters, there was no one to teach catechism.   A plan was devised 

to have nine women (most with families of their own) teach a group of children in 

their own homes.  As a result, about 90 children were taught catechism and prepared 

for First Communion.  Because the church at the Ranch Shops location was too 

small to accommodate this entire group, three separate First Communions were 

held on May 6th  (23 children who attended Holy Spirit), June 3rd (47 students from 

C.C.D.) and June 17th (45 additional students from C.C.D.) 

Within the first year, the parishioners also rallied to create and join the various 

necessary support organizations, including the Altar Society, the Knights of 

Columbus, and the Legion of Mary.  From the early days, the active participation 

of parishioners in these organizations has added immeasurably to the vitality and 

functioning of the Parish.  Within the larger Diocese, the parishioners of St. Robert 

were also active.  In particular, the parishioners have always been on the front lines 

of supporting and help operate Loaves and Fishes.  

 

13



14

In May and June of 1956, St. Robert celebrated three separate Holy Communions.  Because the church 
at the Ranch Store location on Freeport Boulevard was so small, the children had to broken up into 

three groups, with 23 children receiving Holy Communion on May 6th, 47 children on June 3rd, and 45 
children on June 17th.  Against the backdrop of the parking lot for the strip mall, the children lined up 

on the sidewalk and filed into the church.



With construction of the school being the highest priority, the parish wasted no 

time.  Construction took less than a year, and St. Robert School was dedicated on 

December 2, 1956.  Confirmation was also celebrated at the school this same day.  

Ten months later, the school was first opened in September 1957.  It opened with 

three grades (1st through 3rd), with a grade added each year.  The Sisters of St. 

Louis staffed the school, with Sr. Mary Antonia as principal.  After serving the 

school for nearly twenty years, the Sisters of St. Louis withdrew, and the Sisters 

of Mercy came in to staff the school. 

After the school was opened, worship services were moved to the school building.  

The first Mass at the school was celebrated on October 7, 1956, and the school 

served as the church for about two years.  As we see from the picture of Holy 

Communion in May of 1957, the church was simply two or three classrooms opened 

up, with the congregation sitting on folding chairs.  

Shortly after the school was opened, Father Mc Tague shifted focus to other 

facility needs.  He started a campaign to build a convent and a facility that could 

serve as a church.  He made it known to all that it was going to be impossible to 

recruit nuns to teach at the school unless there was a convent.  As to the long-

awaited church, Father Mc Tague envisioned a building that could be used for 

multiple purposes, including a church, a social hall, and an auditorium for the 

Right after the school, the convent 
became the highest priority

Sister Mary Urban is pictured with 
the change of habit

After the school opened in the fall 
of 1957, Holy Communion was 

celebrated in the classrooms
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Facilities Boom—1956 to 1959—The School, the Convent,                
                                                                       and the Hall Are Built:



school.  While there was still strong sentiment for constructing a stand-alone 

church, and while this was Father Mc Tague’s dream, he balanced the competing 

needs and decided upon a facility that could meet the needs of both the church and 

the school.  He and the parishioners were willing to wait, and they were willing to 

adjust priorities so that the needs of children and the school could be met.    

Construction on the convent started in 1957, and construction on the Hall 

commenced shortly thereafter.  The convent was dedicated on February 22, 1958. The 

following year, in 1959, the Hall was dedicated by Bishop Joseph McGucken.  With 

the opening of the Hall, the Parish finally had a facility that was at least partially 

designed as a church.  

One of the key aspects of the Hall that made it feel so much like a church was the 

very large mosaic of Our Lady of Fatima appearing to the three children at Fatima.  

This 8 foot by 12 foot mosaic was designed and set by Robert Halon, a parishioner.  

Halon had spent time in Italy during World War II, and learned the art of setting 

tile.  Father Mc Tague became aware of Halon’s talent, and asked him to work on a 

piece for the church.  Working on the floor of his garage, and using tiles imported 

from Italy, Halon labored away painstakingly.  In order to view his work from a 

proper perspective, he had to scramble up in the rafters of his garage and look down 

at the piece.  After nearly eight months, Halon had set everything but the face of 

our Lady of Fatima.  The face, however, was almost his undoing, and ended up taking 

him an extra year.  Wanting to get it just right, Halon set and reset the face 40 

times before he was satisfied!    After Halon finished this beautiful work, it took 

eleven men to lift it into place inside the Hall. To this day it hangs in the same 

location—on the right side of the front wall. 

In retrospect, the decision to proceed with a multi-purpose building turned out to be 

the best one.  Within months, the Hall became a vital center for the Parish, a status 

it enjoys to the present day.  On any given day or evening, parishioners or their 

children would find themselves at the Hall for Mass, a wedding, a school assembly, 

a dinner, a pancake breakfast, a party, a PTA meeting, a cub scout or girl scout 
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meeting, or even a rummage sale.  Still, no one ever anticipated that the Hall would 

continue to serve as the Parish’s church as long as it did.  Indeed, it was not until 

1988—almost 30 years after the Hall was dedicated—that the dream of a stand-

alone church was finally realized.

With the incredible amount of construction that occurred between 1955 and 

1959, the Parish had incurred a large debt.  Records at the Diocese indicate that 

construction of the school was initially financed through a loan from the Bank 

of America.  Additional loans were necessary to construct the convent and the 

Hall. The Parish worked valiantly to pay down this debt; however, late in 1959, it 

still owed over $300,000.  In October of 1959, Father Mc Tague called for a major 

effort to pay down this debt so that the school could be expanded and other parish 

facilities could be built.  The effort called for securing pledges for increased 

giving by present envelope users, and for securing more envelope users.  The drive 

for funds was led by parishioner Jerry Keating during 1960.  The parishioners once 

again responded to the call, and a large part of the debt was paid down over the 

next few years. 

The large mosaic, “Our 
Lady of Fatima”,

which continues to hang 
at the front of the Hall, 

on the right.

The newly-completed Hall, circa 1960
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Inside the Hall, circa 1970



The Rectory—1964-65

With the completion of the Hall, the Parish had all major facilities in place except 

a rectory.  For Father Mc Tague, however, a rectory was not a high priority.  Instead, 

he was content to live in a house on Irvin Way, which was rented by the Parish.  With 

the school, the convent, and the Hall completed, Father Mc Tague next wanted to 

build the church.  However, the Bishop’s priority for the Parish was a rectory that 

could also serve the needs of housing other priests or assistant priests within the 

Diocese.  Accordingly, construction of the current rectory was started in 1964, and 

was completed in 1965.  

Father Mc Tague, with the rectory under construction in 1964.
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While the construction of Parish facilities is an important part of the history of St. 

Robert, the buildings only tell part of the story.   Also important are various annual 

events and celebrations—many of which help raise funds—that have become part of 

the fabric of the Parish.  Unquestionably, the main parish-wide fundraising event 

for St. Robert is its Fall Festival.  Like no other Parish event, the Fall Festival 

brings the church and school together.  Parishioners, parents, children, and faculty 

and staff all come together to play games, eat, drink and converse in a convivial and 

carnival-like setting.  Fueled by the upbeat music and happy children running about, 

it is impossible not to feel uplifted.  And, as the years go by, we find our memories of 

Fall Festivals becoming more and more nostalgic. 

While the year of the first Fall Festival is not known, most long-time parishioners 

recall it starting during the first few years.  The earliest Fall Festivals were 

located on Irvin Way.  A tent was set up where the church now stands, and barbequed 

chicken was cooked up in huge quantities.  Booths, games, and other festivities were 

set up in the surrounding area, and in the Hall.  Later, in 1965, Mexican food was 

added, and became instantly popular. 

Photos of early Fall Festival

The Fall Festival—A Long and Important Tradition
                                                   for the Parish 
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Each year, the 8th grade graduating class lined up for the traditional photo in front of the Hall.  
Judging from the dress of the students, this photo is of a class graduating in the late 1960’s or 
early 1970’s.  Paul Rodgers, a parishioner, was the official school photographer for many years. 



The fact that Mexican food was such a hit at the Fall Festival is just one indicator 

of how St. Robert embraced and celebrated its growing diversity.  Starting in the 

late 1960’s, increasing numbers of Hispanics/Latinos began moving to the Hollywood 

Park neighborhood.  As the demography of California grew more diverse, especially 

with respect to the Latino population, it was not surprising to see Sacramento 

and its various neighborhoods reflect this demographic.  By the late 1970’s, the 

percentage of Latino churchgoers and students had climbed substantially, and the 

percentages of Asians and African Americans had increased as well.   

In its customary fashion, St. Robert welcomed its growing diversity and, in so doing, 

enhanced the lives of all its parishioners and students.  Under the leadership of 

Assistant Pastor Father John Cuffe, and as a means of reaching out to the Spanish 

speaking community, the Club San Roberto was formed in 1971.  The list of goals for 

the club was long, but the top priority was starting a Spanish mass.  By the end of 

1971, St. Robert began celebrating the Spanish mass.   In addition, the other Masses 

were adapted so that portions were said or sung in Spanish.   During this same period 

of time, the “Fiesta Mexicana” was initiated as a celebration and fundraising event.  

With these and countless other actions to recognize and celebrate its diversity, the 

Parish has not only added to its traditions and celebrations, but has also enriched 

the experience of all parishioners and students.

The Changing Demography of the Parish—
                                      Diversity Brings Richness and Strength  

... Class photos from 1970’s
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Groundbreaking for the long-awaited church took place on a windy, clear day on March 28, 1987.  
Bishop Francis Quinn (far right) and Father Vereker (at podium) presided.  Here, as part of the 

ceremonies, Bishop Quinn blesses the property with holy water.  At last, after more than three 
decades, the Parish began to realize its dream of a stand-alone church. 



The Father Vereker Years—1980-1992		  		
	
At the same time that the Parish was embracing its diversity and expanding its 

traditions and celebrations, it still had not realized its dream of a stand-alone 

church.  With the retirement of Father Mc Tague in 1980, the quest to realize this 

dream would now fall to the new Pastor, Tobias Vereker.  

Tobias Vereker was born in Moon Coin, Waterford, Ireland, in 1933.  One of eight sons, 

Vereker grew up and was schooled in Ireland.  He went to St. Keirnan’s Seminary in 

Kilkinney in 1952-58, and was ordained there in 1958.  Upon his arrival in Sacramento 

immediately thereafter, he was assigned to various parishes in the Diocese, including:  

St. Mel’s, St. Christopher’s in Galt, Holy Family in Citrus Heights, St. Isadore’s in 

Yuba City, and St. Joseph’s in Sacramento.  He accepted his assignment at St. Robert 

in June of 1980, and served as Pastor until 1992.  After leaving St. Robert, he served as 

Assistant Pastor at St. Vincent’s for five years; and, after a period of ill health, died 

on September 4, 2001. 

Many have described Father Vereker as easy going, and as having lots of friends.  

Despite these attributes, many also say he was actually quite shy, and never wanted 

to be in the limelight.  Almost everyone remembers that Father Vereker never wasted 

any time in saying Mass.  And, in his limited free time, he loved to play golf, and was 

quite good at it.  

While Father Vereker was both affable and calm in demeanor, this did not mean he 

wasn’t focused on helping the Parish realize its vision of having a stand-alone church.  

In fact, he was tireless in this regard; and his leadership and persistence made a 

defining difference in bringing the new church into reality.  It would take him eight 

years, but his persistence finally paid off in 1988.
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December of 1988, parishioner 
Martin Rodriquez brought his 

tractor to help prepare the site for 
the new church

As construction commences, 
three key people are regularly on 

the scene.  Jim Hilts (the Parish’s 
construction superintendent), 

Father Vereker, and
Martin Rodriquez

By April of 1988, the frame for 
the church began to appear, as 

girders were lifted into place



The Dream is Realized—Construction of the Church  

In January of 1986, Father Vereker initiated a three-year drive to raise funds to 

build the church. The effort was led by parishioner Charles Heinrich, assisted by a 

Building Fund Committee of dedicated parishioners, and the professional fundraising 

firm of Reynolds Johnson.  Within the Parish, an aggressive campaign for pledges was 

undertaken, and virtually everyone contributed.   Even the students of St. Robert—

through their student council—contributed $600.   By late 1986, the campaign was 

successful enough that the Parish could initiate the process of construction.  

Groundbreaking took place on March 28, 1987.  Bishop Francis Quinn and Father 

Vereker presided.  In addition to breaking ground, Bishop Quinn also blessed the 

property with holy water. 

It was several months later before construction actually began.  On December 10, 

1987, parishioner Martin Rodriquez (now a Deacon) arrived with his tractor to begin 

excavation work.  After foundation, water, sewer, and electrical work were done, the 

frame of the church first started to take shape in April of 1988.  Girders were lifted 

into place; and, a month or so later, the wood framing was nearly complete.  As the 

interior began to take shape, the Parish’s Construction Superintendent, Jim Hilts, 

gave a small group of parishioners a guided tour.  

The stain glass windows for the church were done by Pat Hagar, from San Jose.  This 

was her first Catholic church, as she had previously done windows for protestant 

churches.  She considered the “Our Lady of Guadalupe” window in the confessional 

the best window she had ever done.  

By May of 1988, wood framing 
was completed, and the church 

was wrapped in plywood

Stain glass windows are installed
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The Stations of the Cross are of wood, hand carved in Italy.  The original estimate 

for these exquisite works was $4,000, and parishioners John and Susie Uhart 

generously agreed to cover this cost.  When it turned out that the stations actually 

cost $10,000, the Uharts agreed to cover the additional cost.  Again, parishioners 

were doing whatever it took to realize their dream. 

The tabernacle for the new church came from the Hall.  The original design by the 

architect called for the tabernacle to sit on a shelf coming out of the wall.  But 

when it came time to move this 250-plus pound object, it was clear the shelf would 

not be strong enough to hold the tabernacle.  For a couple of years, the tabernacle 

was thus placed on a temporary table.  Later, Jim Hilts designed, built and installed 

a permanent tabernacle table. The cost of the table was paid for by Doris Fried, a 

former parishioner.  While she was moving to the Midwest, she agreed to pay for the 

table on one condition—that she be able to write a note to be attached to the table 

for posterity.  The note is still there. 

The church was dedicated on December 4, 1988.  Presiding at the ceremony were 

Bishop Francis Quinn, Auxiliary Bishop Alphonse Gallegos, and Father Vereker.  

Other Pastors who had served at St. Robert, including Fathers Morgan Curran, 

Ricardo Chavez, and Robert Coffey were also part of the ceremony.  The church was 

handed over to the Bishop, who then blessed it and provided the prayer of dedication.  

This was followed by the anointing of the altar and the walls of the church, the 

incensation of the altar and the church, and the lighting of the altar and the 

church.   Later the same day, a special dinner was held to celebrate the dedication of 

the church. 

The stained glass windows for the 
church were done by Pat Hagar, 

of San Jose.  Here the window for 
the vestibule is installed

...



The Father McMahon Years
 Having pushed long and hard to build the church, Father Vereker could not rest. 

The Parish was still in debt, operating the school was financially challenging, and 

additional funds were needed for maintenance and repairs of aging facilities.  He 

continued to work hard with efforts to reduce the debt and meet operational needs.  

Having completed twelve years as Pastor of St. Robert, Father Vereker was assigned 

to St. Vincents in Vallejo as Assistant Pastor late in 1992.  

Father Kieran McMahon was appointed Pastor of St. Robert on February 28, 1992.  

McMahon was born in Limerick, Ireland, in 1939.  After completing his college 

education in Dublin, at All Hallows College, he was ordained into the Priesthood 

in 1965.  He immediately came to the Sacramento Diocese, where he served one 

year at Presentation before being appointed to Redding in 1966.  After five years in 

Redding, he was appointed to Yreka for twenty-two years—from 1971 to 1993.  He 

finally came back to Sacramento—the St. Robert Parish—in 1993. 

From the opening moment, Father McMahon has been a good match for the Parish.  

He brought strong organizational skills and fiscal acumen—just what was needed 

to get the Parish out of debt and tighten up its operations.  He brought certain 

liturgical skills and encouraged the congregation to sing.  And, for good measure, 

he brought a wry and subtle sense of humor—just what was needed for parishioners 

to warm up to their new Pastor.  Here was a man—dignified, literate, and precise—

who immediately earned both the confidence and respect of parishioners.  

In his years of service to St. Robert, the Parish is out of debt for the first time in its 

history.  The school is running smoothly.  Masses are well attended.  Funds are set 

aside for repairs.  And, by creating a Pastoral Council, Father McMahon has further 

assured that the Parish will anticipate and meet its needs in the future. 

27



The Jubilee:  A Year of Celebration 
As St. Robert turns fifty, the Parish has been involved in a year of celebration.  A 

carefully planned set of ceremonies and activities has taken place during the year.  

On Sunday, April 3, 2005, a special Mass was held at 4:00 pm to officially initiate the 

Parish’s Golden Jubilee.  The church was filled to capacity, as parishioners gathered to 

recognize the special day.  Following the ceremony, a catered dinner was held in the Hall, 

complete with string trio and convivial atmosphere.  Bishop Garcia, appearing on behalf 

of Bishop Wiegand, gave the blessing and helped initiate the celebration.  Parishioners, old 

and new, enjoyed Jack Sapnaro’s recounting of days gone by. 

On Sunday, October 2, 2005, in conjunction with the Fall Festival, a special family 

outdoor mass was held at 10:00 am to commemorate the actual 50th anniversary of the 

Parish.  Bishop Garcia, presided, assisted by Father Mc Mahon and Deacon Doug Tokuno, as 

hundreds gathered on a bright, sunny, crisp fall morning.  Against the colorful backdrop 

of balloons and booths, the occasion was both festive and dignified.  

On October  24, 2005, at 7:00 pm, a special ceremony was held to dedicate the icon of St. 

Robert of Newminster.  As a part of Golden Jubilee, the Parish commissioned Sister Anne 

Sekul, RSM, an accomplished writer of icons, to create an icon for St. Robert.   After 

many months of work, she completed the piece in late September.  The ceremony to 

dedicate the icon was held to coincide as close as possible to the actual 50th anniversary of 

the Parish—October 27, 2005.  Bishop Weigand presided, and Father Mc Mahon delivered 

the homily, as hundreds gathered to view the icon and take part in the dedication. 

Accompanying the icon is the author’s depiction of the piece, which is also inspiring.  The 

icon of St. Robert now resides in its place on the left side of the sanctuary, immediately to 

the right of the tabernacle.  
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Finally, as part of the Jubilee, an archive is being created.  Documents, pictures, and 

artifacts from the first fifty years are being collected and preserved for future 

generations.  As a part of this activity, extensive video footage has been taken of the 

Golden Jubilee Masses, dedications, and celebrations.  Efforts are underway to create 

a documentary that combines video footage, narrative, still photographs and music.  

Once completed, this documentary will be available in both DVD and VHS formats. 

[ ICON AND TEXT ]
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A Bright Future:  Building On The First Fifty Years

In so many ways, it is the people who define the unique character of a parish. St. 

Robert is a community of down-to-earth people of all ages and walks of life—a 

diverse community that functions harmoniously.  We are a people who place a high 

value on education.  We have always been resourceful. We have always been patient.  

And we have always been willing to make do with what we have. We have always 

accepted responsibility for getting things done.  We have always been generous. We 

have always been strong in our convictions and faith, and we have always supported 

one another in friendship and in faith.  As St. Robert’s celebrates its first 50 years, 

we can look back with pride and a great sense of accomplishment.  And, as we look 

to the future—the next 50 years—it is clear that this very special faith community 

will continue to evolve, and grow and thrive in the service of the Lord.


